FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102848-2

No. 82897-5-I

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/4/2024 9:40 AM

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SINA GHODSEE, an individual, through Litigation Guardian ad Litem, JOSHUA BROTHERS,

Petitioners,

and

SHAHRBANOO GHODSEE, an individual,

Plaintiff,

V.

CITY OF KENT, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

and

KING COUNTY, d/b/a King County Crisis and Commitment Services,

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John R. Connelly, Jr. WSBA #12183
Meaghan M. Driscoll
WSBA #49863
Samuel J. Daheim
WSBA #52746
Connelly Law Offices, PLLC

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Sina Ghodsee's Litigation GAL, Joshua Brothers, seeks review of Division I's opinions on the liability of the City of Kent ("City").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS TERMINATING REVIEW

Division I filed a published opinion on April 18, 2022. ("Op. 1"). After this Court directed it to reconsider that opinion in light of *Norg v. City of Seattle*, 200 Wn.2d 749, 522 P.3d 580 (2023), Division I issued an opinion again insisting that the public duty doctrine applies to common law negligence claims. ("Op. 2"). Both opinions are in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Misapplying the public duty doctrine to a common law negligence action, did Division I err in concluding that police officers owed no duty to a severely mentally ill person to execute a court's Involuntary Treatment Act, RCW 71.05 ("ITA"), detention order in a non-negligent fashion under the *Reinstatement (Second) of Torts* § 281 when the court determined that the person presented a likelihood of inflicting harm on others?
 - 2. Did Division I err in ruling on breach of duty

as a matter of law, concluding that police officers' actions were reasonable and that officers could not enter a house pursuant to a court's ITA order to detain a severely mentally ill person?

3. Did Division I err in applying RCW 71.05.120(1) to the negligent execution of a court's ITA detention order?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Division I opinions discussed the facts, op. 1: 2-3, op. 2: 2-5, but failed to convey Sina Ghodsee's manifest danger, the critical mandatory detention language of Judge Bender's detention order, or the inexplicable dithering of Kent Police Department ("KPD") law enforcement officers over the course of nearly two weeks while Sina descended into his deep mental distress.²

¹ King County's Diane Swanberg prepared a chronology of events in the case. CP 365-67.

² Division I mischaracterizes Sina's case. Op. 2: 11 n.6. Division I asserts that Sina first contended at oral argument that KPD's interactions with the Ghodsee family and the DMHPs gave rise to the officers' actionable individualized duty of reasonable care to him. That is not true. Sina has *always* contended in his briefing that the KPD officers owed him an individualized common law duty of care from their interactions

On June 23, 2017, Shari Ghodsee, Sina's mother, called King County Crisis and Commitment Services ("KCCCS"), to request that Sina be involuntarily detained due to his mental health crisis. CP 315-18. Shari reported that Sina was not taking his anti-psychotic medications, CP 106, and was concerned for her personal safety due to Sina's recent aggressiveness toward her prompted by his mental illness. She left her home and remained away from it because of her fear that he would harm her; he believed he was the King of England and owned the house; he physically pushed her out of the home and threatened her with a table leg. CP 329. Sina's threats and screaming prevented Shari from living in her own home. CP 320, 332.

Sina had a *long* history of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, CP 598-99, and an *extensive* criminal and ITA detention history. CP 106, 157, 166-86, 316. In 2012, law enforcement officers entered Sina's home to effectuate an ITA

with him. Br. of Appellants at 31-32, 40-46; reply br. at 27-29; supp'l br. at 3-5.

detention by tackling him. CP 157.

KCCCS initially treated Shari's contact as non-emergent, simply putting Sina's case "in the pile," CP 357, but later sent a team of three County DMHPs³ to the house on June 28, 2017. CP 366. An ambulance was summoned to take Sina to a hospital. CP 381. Suffering a psychotic episode, Sina would not speak with the DMHPs and made shooting gestures at them from a second story window using a table leg. *Id.* He put a chair against the door to prevent their access to him. CP 423. The DMHPs determined that Sina's situation was emergent, CP 379-80, meeting the criteria for ITA detention because he was imminently likely to hurt himself or others if he was not detained. CP 237, 243, 378-80, 382, 428. The DMHPs needed law enforcement assistance to effectuate Sina's detention. CP 245.4

³ A DMHP was the county official who made initial detention decisions under the ITA. Op. 1: 2 n.3.

⁴ Those law enforcement officers had independent authority under the ITA to detain Sina in any event, as the KPD officers themselves testified. CP 115, 136, 412, 455. They did

The DMHPs summoned the Kent police on June 28 to detain Sina. CP 381-82. Five or six officers responded. CP 381, 424-25. The officers were told about Sina's history, advised that there were guns in the home believed to be in a locked safe in the garage, and told that he had threatened police in the past. CP 381, 423.

After attempting to contact Sina through the closed door, a KPD officer opened the door to try to contact Sina, and stepped into the home. CP 467-69. He saw Sina swinging a skateboard, but did not observe guns. CP 383, 426-27, 430-31, 467, 472, 485. That officer stated that he was "in a deadly force encounter," justifying the use of his gun. CP 467. He then stepped back out of the home and "closed the door real quick." *Id.* The KPD officers abandoned any effort to detain Sina that day. CP 435, 472, 477, 485.⁵ They told the DMHPs that they

not need traditional probable cause to do so. CP 457.

⁵ KPD Commander Rob Scholl later acknowledged that his officers missed an opportunity to seize Sina on June 28. CP

would not enter the house to detain Sina without a court order. CP 366.

The DMHPs initially drafted their own detention order that would have been effective to detain Sina, CP 378, but they subsequently tore it up. CP 387, 392-93.6 Given their evaluation of Sina, and the imminent risk of "something bad" happening based on his deteriorating mental condition, the DMHPs sought a court order authorizing law enforcement to immediately take Sina into custody because he posed an imminent threat of harm. CP 329-35, 380-81. King County Superior Court Judge Johanna Bender signed the order⁷ on June 29, ruling that Sina was a

^{135, 138, 543.} Scholl mentioned the use of tasers or rubber bullets. CP 135-36. Swanberg, KCCCS's coordinator, agreed, noting that the KPD officers "had to intervene in order for this to stop. It was not gonna stop any other way." CP 546.

⁶ DMHPs also have authority under the ITA to detain a person without a court order. CP 377-78. That emergency authority is not subject to judicial review, *In re Detention of Johnson*, 179 Wn. App. 579, 587, 322 P.3d 22, *review denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1005 (2014), and is constitutional. *Id.* at 587-91.

Although called a "Nonemergent Detention Order"

danger to others, CP 333, that "[p]robable cause exists to order the respondent detained to an evaluation and treatment facility," and ordering that Sina *shall* be detained by a DMHP for evaluation and treatment under the ITA for up to 72 hours. CP 334. The order further specified: "When notified by a Designated Mental Health Professional for King County of this Order to Detain the King County Sheriff's Office or any peace officer *shall* take the respondent into custody..." CP 334-35 (emphasis added).

Despite the court's mandatory order, a pattern of failure ensued. Although SWAT involvement was needed, CP 265, KPD did not call its SWAT unit because, it asserted, SWAT is for criminal cases. CP 266. For days, its officers would go to the Ghodsee house and then do nothing. CP 321 (June 30); CP 322 (July 1).8

^{(&}quot;NED"), such an order, authorizes immediate detention of an individual. CP 387.

⁸ At all pertinent times, Shari had keys to the home and

According to Swanberg, the KPD made a decision to *never* enter the Ghodsee house. CP 540, 542, 545. The KPD's refusal to act became a source of intense frustration, boiling over into a verbal shouting match on the street near the Ghodsee home between the DMHPs and the police. CP 537-38.

In the meanwhile, Swanberg testified that Sina only deteriorated further. CP 538, 556. Sina's increasing volatility was communicated to KPD Commander Scholl. CP 539.

On July 2, 2017, Sina stepped outside of the home with a rifle and pointed it at a neighbor who was doing yardwork, while screaming and yelling incoherent, but threatening, statements. CP 494. KPD officers responded, but again took no action.

On July 3, 2017, Scholl demanded a plan from his officers for Sina's detention, but he also stated his officers must not force their way into the house. CP 323, 497. No further action was taken by the KPD until July 7, 2017 when a "plan" to detain Sina

gave permission to the officers to enter it. CP 261, 266.

Petition for Review - 8

once he exited the house for groceries was developed. CP 498. That "plan" failed on July 9, 2017. CP 499. KPD officers then went to the Ghodsee residence later on July 9, but again took no action to detain Sina. CP 499.

Approximately 24 hours later, a number of noise complaints were reported to the KPD. CP 500. Three KPD officers responded, CP 106-07, 109, but again KPD officers took no action, gave up, and left. *Id*.

The next day, July 10, 2017, Sina came out of his home with the gun he had pointed at a neighbor over a week earlier, and pointed it into a neighbor's home, yelling for them to get out of his house and that they were terrorists. CP 501-02. He then shot into the home. *Id.* Multiple 911 calls resulted from the incident. CP 501-19. KPD officers responded, this time employing SWAT officers, CP 502, and an armored vehicle. CP 204. KPD officers shot Sina in the head, which he survived, CP 527, resulting in "significant cognitive impairments, including deficits in his speech and comprehension." CP 530.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) The City Owed Sina a Duty of Care to Detain Him for Necessary Treatment

In its second opinion, Division I stubbornly insists that the public duty doctrine applies to Sina's common law claims against the City, despite this Court's *numerous* decisions to the contrary, culminating in *Norg*.

The City owed a common law duty of care under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 281 to Sina arising out of its duty to execute Judge Bender's detention order. Judge Bender's order⁹ is the predicate for the City's common law duty, not the ITA itself.¹⁰ Division I agreed that a common law duty to Sina

⁹ Judge Bender's order was entirely within her authority under the ITA. Br. of Appellants at 28-31. Division I agreed with that assertion and assumed the order's validity. Op. 1: 10.

The ITA creates no private right of action, as the City conceded below. City br. at 15. See Konicke v. Evergreen Emergency Services, P.S., 16 Wn. App. 2d 131, 146, 480 P.3d 424 (2021) (RCW 71.05.120 "does not create an independent cause of action, but, rather, serves to modify already existing causes of action.").

arose out of Judge Bender's order. Op. 1: 10 ("...the plain language of the court order directing the government to detain Ghodsee creates a legal duty.").

Division I's concession in its first opinion is supported. A § 281 duty was owed by the City to Sina after this Court's decisions in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 759-61, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013); *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 550-57, 442 P.3d 608 (2019); and *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 886, 479 P.3d 656 (2021).

The City's § 281 duty to Sina derives from its negligent execution of Judge Bender's detention order, an order whose explicit terms the KPD officers were obligated to obey.¹¹ Judge

¹¹ KPD officers had a mandatory duty to enforce Judge Bender's order *as written. Miller v. Pierce County*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1036, 2021 WL 463453 (2021) (plaintiff stated a "take charge" duty in a case where there was an order of commitment that directed an offender's supervision on probation or incarceration in the County Jail but, inexplicably, the County failed to enforce it, allowing the offender to brutally assault his estranged wife while he was free).

Bender's order was explicit, and *mandatory*. Sina was a danger to others because of his mental disorder. CP 333. He would not utilize voluntary treatment services for his mental disorder. CP 334. The court directed DMHPs to detain him. CP 334 ("*shall* be detained by a designated Mental Health Professional for King County...") (emphasis added). In assisting the DMHPs, the officers' duty was clearly *mandatory*. *Id*. ("the King County Sheriff's office or any peace officers *shall* take the respondent into custody of the evaluation and treatment facility designated by the Designated Mental Health Professional for King County...") (emphasis added). *Id*. at 334-35.¹²

Under § 281, law enforcement officers must employ reasonable care in discharging their responsibilities. In *Washburn*, this Court held that a duty was owed by Federal Way

Moreover, the officers knew Sina was dangerous, met the criteria for ITA detention as of June 28, and that they had independent authority under the ITA to detain him.

officers to a harassment victim when they served an antiharassment order on the harasser. After seeing the harasser's victim in the house, the officers were negligent in failing to take precautions to protect her. Officers cannot be oblivious to the totality of the circumstances presented in executing a court order. In Beltran-Serrano, 193 Wn.2d at 550, an officer encountered a homeless, mentally ill Hispanic man and negligently used deadly force against him; the City owed him a duty of care. Similarly, in *Mancini*, where officers negligently executed a search warrant upon the incorrect party, the Court again recognized a common law duty in the law enforcement setting. 196 Wn.2d at 879. The Court cited numerous instances of such claims against law enforcement. *Id.* at 880 n.8. As the *Norg* court summarized: "This court has previously recognized that '[a]t common law, every individual owes a duty of reasonable care to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others." (quoting Beltran-Serrano, 193 Wn.2d at 550).

Thus, the City's officers owed Sina a duty to refrain from

negligence when executing a court order or otherwise interacting with him. The City's inexplicable refusal over *two weeks* to execute a mandatory detention order while Sina decompensated led to his shooting.

While Division I's first opinion seemingly agreed with the existence of a City duty to Sina, it determined that the public duty doctrine foreclosed any duty. Division I's second opinion insists that the public duty doctrine applies to a common law claim, despite *Norg*.

The public duty doctrine categorically does not apply to Sina's common law negligence claims. 14 The Norg court reaffirmed that the public duty doctrine is inapplicable to a common law negligence claim. Accord, Munich v. Skagit

¹³ It also held as *a matter of law* that the KPD officers' conduct in breach of the City's duty to Sina was "reasonable," intruding upon the jury's role. That, too, was error. *See infra*.

The City *admitted* below that the doctrine does not apply to common law actions, citing *Beltran-Serrano*, City Br. at 7.

Emergency Commc'ns Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 887, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring); Beltran-Serrano, supra; Ehrhart v. King County, 195 Wn.2d 388, 460 P.3d 612 (2020). See also, Mita v. Guardsmark LLC, 182 Wn. App. 76, 84, 328 P.3d 962 (2014); Watness v. City of Seattle, 16 Wn. App. 2d 297, 307, 481 P.3d 570 (2021) (public duty doctrine inapplicable to police negligence in shooting woman with possible mental health issues). It is inapplicable specifically in police practices cases, Beltran-Serrano, 193 Wn.2d at 550-57; Washburn, 178 Wn.2d at 759-61. Mancini, 196 Wn.2d at 886, and in cases where officers negligently handle an ITA order. Watness, 16 Wn. App. at 307.

In *Norg*, Seattle contended that the plaintiffs' action was statutory, not common law, because a statute addressed 911 calls. But the Court rejected that argument; the plaintiffs' action had nothing to do with the particular statutory requirements. 200 Wn.2d at 764. Rather, as here regarding the ITA, the Court concluded that the City undertook to render emergency

assistance, but did so negligently by going to a wrong address. *Id.* at 764-65.

Sina's claim is no different; the City had a "direct and particularized" relationship with Sina. The KPD caused a court detention order for Sina to be issued in the first place after its officers informed the DMHPs that they would not enter the house to detain Sina without a court order. CP 366. The DMHPs obtained such a court detention order, CP 334-35, but KPD failed *over fourteen days* to detain Sina often interacting with him at his house. The KPD's interaction was with Sina, *not* the "nebulous public." The KPD officers shot Sina in the head.

A particularly problematic aspect of Division I's second opinion is its reference to discretionary immunity principles in discussing the public duty doctrine. Op. 2: 8-10. It introduces the propriety/governmental distinction from the discretionary immunity case law asserting that the KPD's actions were an inherent government function, *id.* at 10, a view incompatible with the waiver of sovereign immunity and this Court's recent public

duty doctrine precedents.

The Legislature did away with sovereign immunity and also discarded the government/proprietary function test that Division I now revives. The statutory waiver for municipalities like the City provides that "[a]ll local governmental entities, whether acting in a governmental or proprietary capacity, shall be liable for damages arising out of their tortious conduct, or the tortious conduct of their past or present officers." RCW 4.96.010(1) (emphasis added). Division I's lengthy discussion of how police departments perform a "government function" (op. 2: 8-10) improperly revives this dichotomy.

This dichotomy has also arisen in *Fabre v. Town of Ruston*, 180 Wn. App 150, 160, 321 P.3d 1208 (2014) and in *Norg*, where the Court chose not to address it. 200 Wn.2d at 765, n. 4. This Court needs to give guidance on the relevance of a government performing a so-called government function in a government liability case. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

Ultimately, the public duty doctrine is *not* an immunity –

a surreptitious restoration of sovereign immunity abolished by RCW 4.92.090/RCW 4.96.010. Rather, it is merely a focusing tool to avoid a duty to the "nebulous public." Judge Bender's order, the basis for the actions of the KPD officers, was not directed at the "nebulous public," it was aimed at a specific, readily identifiable individual – Sina Ghodsee.

Division I's stubborn insistence that the public duty doctrine applies to common law causes of action requires this Court's supervisory grant of review. It is apparent that Division I simply refuses to apply this Court's unambiguous public duty doctrine jurisprudence. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

(2) <u>Division I Improperly Ruled on Breach as a Matter of Law</u>¹⁵

While acknowledging that police "had a duty to exercise reasonable care when discharging their duties, including

Petition for Review - 18

¹⁵ Division I's second opinion does not address breach or RCW 71.05.120(1), as did its first opinion. Its erroneous treatment of both issues in its first opinion further supports review.

effectuating court orders," op. 1: 13, Division I, nevertheless, determined in its first opinion what is "reasonable" as a matter of law, opining that police have discretion as to how to carry out their role. Op. 1: 13-16. But that analysis fails to appreciate that the negligent exercise of such discretion constitutes a breach of the law enforcement officers' duty to Sina and is a question of fact. Hertog ex rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). Davis v. King County, 16 Wn. App. 2d. 64, 479 P.3d 1181 (2021) (deputies shoot and kill suicidal woman with history of mental issues who was allegedly engaged in assault on officers; fact questions on her intent assault officers).¹⁶ Merely stating that police officers have discretion does not resolve whether officers exercised that discretion

Federal courts have routinely denied summary judgment to governmental defendants after *Beltran-Serrano/Mancini*. *E.g.*, *Estate of Heath v. Pierce County*, 2021 WL 2682513 (W.D. Wash. 2021); *Joseph v. City of Kent*, 2021 WL 391763 (W.D. Wash. 2021); *Gill v. Magan*, 2021 WL 928174 (W.D. Wash. 2021); *Fair v. King County*, 2023 WL 2931327 (W.D. Wash. 2023); *Hanks v. Clark County*, 2023 WL 4623977 (W.D. Wash. 2023).

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