FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/3/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case #: 1028482

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/3/2024 11:16 AM

No. 82897-5-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

SINA GHODSEE, an individual, through Litigation Guardian Ad Litem, JOSHUA BROTHERS,

Petitioners,

and

SHAHRBANOO GHODSEE, an individual,

Plaintiff,

VS.

CITY OF KENT, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

and

KING COUNTY, d/b/a King County Crisis and Commitment Services,

Defendant.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrew Cooley WSBA #15189

Keating, Bucklin, & McCormack, Inc., P.S.

# I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should not grant the Petition for Review.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that police have a duty to act reasonably when they affirmatively act to cause harm to civilians. Here, since the police took no such affirmative acts, they had no duty. In that regard the decision is completely consistent with settled law. And the Court of Appeals also held that the *Norg* case did not change its analysis.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision is harmonious with the settled public policy of this state. That policy strikes a balance in favor of a citizen suffering a mental crisis, and against the police who would violently seize them, against the hospitals that would inject them with drugs against their wishes and against the courts that might be tempted to detain them without due process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The decision below addressed Plaintiffs' claims against both the City and King County. The Petition only seeks a review of the decision involving the City.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the violent and unconstitutional acts suggested by Plaintiffs' experts and repeated here. The policy of this state is de-escalation by police and not the violent and unprovoked use of a SWAT Team, tasers, tear gas, and bullets suggested to this Court.

It is critical to understand that the Plaintiff did not appeal – and the Court of Appeals did not decide – whether the eventual self-defense shooting by the police was reasonable or lawful. While that issue was decided in the trial court, that issue was not decided by the Court of Appeals because it was not properly appealed by the Plaintiffs. And they make no challenge to that holding here. This case is not about the shooting. That is the law of this case.

The Plaintiffs invite this Court to declare that any Non-Emergent Detention Order under RCW 71.05, contains a *sub silentio* search warrant authorizing the police to violently enter a residence. Such a declaration would contradict decades of settled Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 7 jurisprudence.

Equally problematic is the Plaintiffs' request that this Court declare that a Non-Emergent Detention Order strips the police of any discretion about where and how to detain a person in a mental crisis, and instead compels immediate and violent action, amounting to a "arrest dead or alive" order from the Old West. In these two arguments, Petitioner is not showing conflict with existing precedent under RAP 13.4, but is seeking to advance new and uncharted laws, conflicting with established policy. As a prudential and rules-based basis, the Petition should be denied.

# II. NO AFFIRMATIVE ACTS – NO DUTY IN THIS CASE

A. The Public Duty Doctrine Does Apply Here And There Was No Duty Before The Police Took Affirmative Action To Cause Harm On July 10

# 1. The Public Duty Doctrine's Central Purpose.

In the Court of Appeals, Plaintiffs admitted that "the public duty doctrine comes into play when special governmental obligations are imposed by statute or ordinance." *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 549, 442 P.3d 608, 614 (2019) (See, Appellants' Court of Appeals Brief at p. 52,

acknowledging principle). "Because governments, unlike private persons, are tasked with duties that are not legal duties within the meaning of tort law, we carefully analyze the threshold element of duty in negligence claims against governmental entities." Washburn v. City of Fed. Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 753, 310 P.3d 1275, 1287 (2013). "The central purpose behind the public duty doctrine is to ensure that governments do not bear greater tort liability than private actors." Beltran-Serrano, supra.

Here, Mr. Ghodsee had committed no crimes. The police were attempting to interact with him based on the language of RCW 71.05, and nothing more. Their attempt to interact arose out of the Involuntary Treatment Act, an activity that no private actor engages in. Thus, the central purpose of the doctrine was met in this case and properly applied based on settled law.

In contrast, when the City of Seattle set up an ambulance business which negligently went to the wrong address, injuring Mr. Norg, there was no public duty defense. *Norg v. Seattle*.

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished between this case and *Norg* on that exact point.

# B. The Common Law Duty Cases Require Affirmative Action Causing Harm

The "common law duty" that Plaintiff claims is at work in this case, has only been applied when the police take affirmative acts to cause harm. An analysis of both the case law relied upon by Plaintiff and the Restatement establishes that there is a significant distinction between police when taking affirmative action which causes harm, as opposed to what happened here, which was inaction or nonfeasance.

In *Mancini*, the police negligently executed a search warrant, battered down a door, drug an innocent woman from her bed, and forced her to stand in her nightgown while they figured out that they had the wrong apartment. In affirming a jury verdict, this Court emphasized that it was the nature of the affirmative actions that created a duty and then liability. "At common law, every individual owes a duty of reasonable care to

refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others. This duty applies in the context of law enforcement and encompasses the duty to refrain from directly causing harm to another through affirmative acts of misfeasance." *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 879, 479 P.3d 656, 664 (2021) (citation omitted, bold added).<sup>2</sup>

In *Beltran-Serano*, the Tacoma officer pulled her gun and shot an unarmed man. *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 442 P.3d 608 (2019).<sup>3</sup>

The cases relied upon by Plaintiffs were cases where the police actors took affirmative action and caused harm.

Something that never happened here. Cf. Watness v. City of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As the *Mancini* court stated, "Our decisions recognize a difference in the public duty doctrine context between 'misfeasance' and 'nonfeasance.'" *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 885, 479 P.3d 656, 667 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In their brief before the Court of Appeals, Plaintiffs relied upon *Coffel v. Clallam County*, 47 Wn. App. 397, 735 P.2d 686, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1014 (1987) and *Garnett v. City of Bellevue*, 59 Wn. App. 281, 284, 796 P.2d 782, 784 (1990). Both were cases where the police acted affirmatively and caused harm.

Seattle, 16 Wn. App. 2d 297, 304, 481 P.3d 570, 577 (2021) (police entered home of mentally ill woman, failed to deescalate, and shot and killed her).

# C. <u>The Common Law Duty Cases Distinguishes Between</u> Misfeasance And Nonfeasance

When it comes to cases involving tort claims against the government, this Court has made two significant observations. First, "we carefully analyze the threshold element of duty in negligence claims against governmental entities." *Washburn v. City of Fed. Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 753, 310 P.3d 1275, 1287 (2013). Second, the Court has noted the important distinction between affirmative acts causing harm and the doctrine of nonfeasance which is at work in this case:

The difference between this case and  $Parrilla^4$  is the distinction between an act and an omission. The distinction is explained in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Parrilla v. King Cty., 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007) (county owed duty to motorists because bus driver's affirmative act of leaving bus with the engine running with a visibly erratic passenger on board exposed motorists to a recognizable high degree of risk of harm through the passenger's criminal conduct in stealing the bus, which a reasonable person would have foreseen).

Restatement § 314 comment c: The origin of the rule lay in the early common law distinction between action and inaction, or "misfeasance" and "non-feasance." In the early law one who injured another by a positive affirmative act was held liable without any great regard even for his fault. But the courts were far too much occupied with the more flagrant forms of misbehavior to be greatly concerned with one who merely did nothing, even though another might suffer serious harm because of his omission to act. Hence liability for non-feasance was slow to receive any recognition in the law. It appeared first in, and is still largely confined to, situations in which there was some special relation between the parties, on the basis of which the defendant was found to have a duty to take action for the aid or protection of the plaintiff.

Thus, under § 314, an actor might still have a duty to take action for the aid or protection of the plaintiff in cases involving misfeasance (or affirmative acts), here the actor's prior conduct, whether tortious or innocent, may have created a situation of peril to the other. Liability for nonfeasance (or omissions), on the other hand, is largely confined to situations where a special relationship exists.

Robb v. City of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 427, 435–36, 295 P.3d 212, 217 (2013) ("In order to properly separate conduct giving rise to liability from other conduct, courts have maintained a firm line

between misfeasance and nonfeasance.").

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this analysis.

Review is not needed.

# D. <u>Plaintiffs Are Claiming Nonfeasance And Cannot Point</u> To Any Affirmative Act Causing Harm

In this case, Plaintiffs are not accusing the police of affirmative acts that would meet the test of the Restatement or the case law. Indeed, the Plaintiffs are accusing the police of the opposite. The police "gave up and left." Brief of Appellants, p. 18, 21, 22. They "refus[ed] to act." *Id.* p. 19. They would not "force entry." *Id.* p. 20. They were "dithering." *Id.* p. 40. Those same characterizations are repeated here. Petition, p. 7 ("pattern of failure"); p. 7("do nothing"); p.9 ("no action").

In *Washburn*, the Officer's affirmative acts (of serving the anti-harassment order, serving it at the female's home, and giving it to the male with no one to translate) "had created a new and very real risk to Roznowski's safety" *Washburn v. City of Fed. Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 760, 310 P.3d 1275, 1290 (2013).

This Court noted that in these cases "only misfeasance, not nonfeasance, could create a duty to act." *Id.* at 759. Before the jury, "[t]he bulk of testimony offered by Washburn at trial concerned [the police officers] misfeasance in serving the antiharassment order." *Id.* at 760.

Here, prior to the shooting, the City's actions consisted of trying to speak to Ghodsee. They looked at his house. They tried to call him, text him and use a public address system with no success. They asked others to call if they saw him walking in the neighborhood or visiting the local store. On one occasion they opened the door to his house to check on his welfare, and quickly closed the door when he was menacing, de-escalating the encounter. None of these can be properly characterized as affirmative acts, and none caused Mr. Ghodsee any harm. This is a case about nonfeasance, and only nonfeasance, prior to July 10.

Further proof that this is about nonfeasance versus malfeasance is found by examining the affirmative and violent actions the experts hired by Plaintiff's claim the City should have

performed.

Ignoring the illegality of these actions, they claim the City should have used mom's unilateral permission, entered the home and snatched him. CP 586, 587. When Officer Blake opened the door for a welfare check, Plaintiffs claimed he should have affirmatively entered Sina's house and violently grabbed him or perhaps shot him with a bean bag round if he was holding the skateboard as a weapon. CP 566<sup>5</sup>. The expert claims police should have brought SWAT with its military weapons and armored vehicle and gassed Sina from his house. CP 572, 568. These are the classic example of affirmative acts, that if done unreasonably and caused harm, violate the common law duty in the cases. But Kent did none of these things.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Bean bag shotguns are capable of causing serious bodily injury. *Deorle v. Rutherford*, 272 F.3d 1272, 1275 (9th Cir. 2001) (police blinded mentally ill man with bean bag rifle inside his home).

# E. <u>Plaintiff Never Argued That Kent Had A Duty Based On</u> <u>Judge Bender's Order. That Is Newly Minted And Should</u> <u>Not Compel Review</u>

In the Court of Appeals, Plaintiffs claimed, for the first time, that the City's duty arose from the language of Judge Bender's involuntary treatment order and so-called "mandatory" language. Plaintiffs argued that Judge Bender's order created a "take charge" relationship and cited an unpublished case, never mentioned in the trial court. Brief of Appellant, p. 45. It is a newly minted argument. It was never argued below and should be rejected now.

Below, Plaintiffs made three arguments in opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment. It argued that the City had a common law duty to Mr. Ghodsee, citing *Beltran-Serano*, *supra*. CP 296. They argued that the immunity of RCW 71.05.120 does not apply. CP 300. Finally, they argued that the felony defense should fail due to their claim of diminished capacity. CP 303.

Plaintiffs mentioned Judge Bender's order on one

occasion (CP 289) and did not claim the language created a duty, and did not argue that when the order said "shall" it created a mandatory duty to somehow act. These arguments were brand new in the Court of Appeals, and should not be examined now. RAP 2.5(a).

The Court of Appeals said that RAP 2.5(a) was not violated because Ghodsee argued that a "special relationship" existed. It noted this in a section analyzing liability of King County. Opinion, p. 6, fn. 6. But that argument was limited to Ghodsee's claims against King County. CP 609, 623-624. At no time did Plaintiff make that claim as regards City of Kent. CP 295-307. Plaintiffs' Petition does not address the case against King County. And since this argument was never made before the trial court as to City of Kent, it is not proper now. RAP 2.5(a).

Even now, Respondent fails to explain the source of this duty, or tackle the myriad of problems such a broad duty would create. As the Court of Appeals said, "[t]here is nothing in statute or in the NED order that required KPD to enforce the detention

order in any particular way; the officers had discretion to determine the safest way to carry out the court's order. Their actions in effectuating the NED order were further constrained by various constitutional considerations that necessitate a flexible response based on the particular circumstances of the interaction... To expand liability of a law enforcement agency based on failure to detain pursuant to the ITA or a NED order in a particular way or within a particular timeframe would undermine the very language of the ITA itself, which seeks to safeguard individual rights. The risk that imposing liability 'could encourage' law enforcement 'to detain patients merely to avoid potential liability to third parties,' presents a significant challenge to the individual rights of potential detainees who are protected under the ITA." Opinion, p. 14-15.

The order said "shall detain." It did not say "shall detain immediately." It did not say "shall detain using whatever force is necessary." It did not say "shall detain dead or alive." And Plaintiffs do not explain the circumstances that would trigger the

duty. Is the duty triggered the minute Judge Bender puts pen to paper, or would it only arise when the order is presented to the police? If Kent knew of the order, but never went to Ghodsee's home, would the duty arise? What if Kent never saw the order? What if Ghodsee left Kent and traveled to Auburn, would the Auburn police be subject to the duty? Because the Plaintiffs' argument is unmoored to any case law, or any line of jurisprudence, there is nowhere to go to answer these real and practical questions.<sup>6</sup>

Moreover, the argument advanced by Plaintiffs would be contrary to the public policy of the state, as noted by the Court of Appeals. Opinion, p. 15. The policy of the ITA is to preserve and safeguard individual rights. A rule that a Non-Emergent Detention Order mandates immediate arrest might have the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Every day, the Courts of Washington issue bench and arrest warrants that "shall command that the defendant be arrested and brought forthwith before the court issuing the warrant..." CrR 2.2(c). The language is no different from a NED Order. A ruling that such language creates a mandatory duty by individual police to arrest on pain of tort liability, would upend the current system.

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